Bethesda Calvanistic Methodist Chapel

Bethesda Chapel today (2022)

History Timeline

* 1819 — Not marked on an
1819 Ordnance Survey Map
(right).

* 1822 — First built for the
Calvanistic Methodists.

* 1835 — The Chapel can be
seen on a map produced by
Ordnance Survey (below).
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LLANGOLLEN,

PENTRE-DWR, NEAR LraNGoLLEN.—On Wednesday
evening, Oct, 7th, the Rev. I. Jones, Wesleyan minister,
Llanrhaiadr, delivered his popular lecture on * The Con-
flagration of the World, the New Earth, and New
Heaven,” in aid of the trust funds of the Wesleyan
Chapel. The Calvinistic Mcthodist friends kindly gave
the use of their chapel, which is larger than that of the
Wesleyan, onthe occasion. The Rev. Mr Prichard, of
Llangollen, was voted to the chair, who introduced the
lecturer. Mr. Jones thenrose and made some introduc-
tory remarks on the modes very frequently resorted to in
.the Principality of removing the debt on churches and

hapels, such as s, rts, tea parties, and lec-
tures, which he said were very popular “now-a-days.”
The first part of the lecture was the conflagration of the
world, which he described in the most talented manner.
The Llangollen Wesleyan choir, conducted by Mr. Pugh,
sang several of their choice pieces at intervals. Both
lecture and singing gave great satisfaction to the congre-
gation. We werc happy to see such a good congregation,
the chapelbeing crammed to suffoeation, notwithstanding
it was a very wet evening.

e 7th October 1857 — Rev. I.

Jones (Wesleyan Minister,
Llanrhaiadr) delivered a
lecture entitled ‘The
Conflagration of the World,
the New Earth, and New
Heaven’ in aid of trust
funds for the Wesleyan
Chapel. (Wrexham
Advertiser, 10th October
1857).

The article in the
Wrexham Advertiser.

+ 1858 — PentredWwr won Shield for inter-chapel Eisteddfod in Llangollen

District.

» 1859 — The newspaper Y Gwladgarwr reported on a religious revival in
Pentredwr, both for the Calvanistic Methodists and the Wesleyans (Y

Gwladgarwr, 19th February 1859).

PENTREDWR, GER LraxcorrLex.—Y mae adfywiad

HArRI AB Toan.

crefyddol pwysig iawn wedi cymeryd lle yn y 1le hwn, yn
mysg y Wesleyaid a'r Methodistiaid Calfinaidd. Lie
bychan ydyw y lle hwn, a gwanaidd jawn oedd achos cref-
yddiyma; prin 50 oedd nifer yr aclodau yn y ddau gapel.
Erbyn hyn, y mae tua 80 wedi ymuno a hwynt o’rnewydd,
a byny yn benaf mewn cysylltiad a’u gwaith yn-cynal cy-
farfodydd gweddio gyda’u gilydd. {603 5

Report in Y Gwladgarwr on the religious revival in Pentredvir.

+ 1859 — Pentredwr won Shield for inter-chapel Eisteddofd in Llangollen
District.

e 14th December 1863 — A Concert of Sacred Music was held in the

Chapel, by the Chapel Choir, conducted by Henry Roberts; E. Davies
(Penybryn) in chair (Shrewsbury Chronicle, 18th December 1863).

1864 — Chapel was raised and extended (date plaque on wall).



+1874 — Bethesda Chapel was shown and named on the Flintshire &
Denbrghshrre Map produced by the Ordnance Survey
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1874 Ordnance urvey Mp sh0\7\7|r1g th Bethesda Chapel
Courtesy Ordnance Survey.

+ 1885 — The Chapel chose the Reverend Ezra Jones, Ty'n y Pistyll,
Llangollen, as its pastor (Wrexham Advertiser — Saturday, 4th April 1885).

Bethesda Chapel around 1900.

3



* 1903 — The Chapel was
repaired/rebuilt in ‘in the
Simple Round-Headed style
of the gable entry type’
(RCAHMW, 2009).

+ 1912 — Marked on the
Ordnance  Survey Map
(Pentredwr 1988 Book).

+10th June 1923 The
Pentredwr Eisteddfod was
held to raise money for
Chapel Funds (Pentredwr
1988 Book).

The plaque set into the wall of
Bethesda Chapel records the building,

* 1935 — Chapel first used raising and repair of the Chapel.
for Sunday School

(Pentredwr 1988 Book).

A Bryn Melyn Motor Services bus outside the Chapel in the 1930s.

* 1950 — The last known year when home-made cannons were fired in old
Quarry ‘Graig-y-Foel for weddings, as the bride and groom left the chapel
(Pentredwr 1988 Book). The cannons were made by retired quarrymen,
who used black powder in old cocoa tins packed with newspaper, with the
necessary detonators and fuses.

+ 1958, 1959 and 1960 — PentredWwr won the shield for inter-chapel
Eisteddofd in Llangollen District (Pentredwer 1988 Book).

+ 1970 — The last year that Bethesda Chapel was used for Sunday School
(Pentredwr 1988 Book).



» 1974 — Wedding Held at Bethesda
Chapel (Pentredwr 1988 Book).

+ 1977 — Another wedding held at
Chapel (Pentredwr 1988 Book).

* 1977, 1979 and 1985 — Pentredwr
won the shield for inter-chapel
Eisteddofd in Llangollen District
(Pentredwr 1988 Book).

1991 — Last ever wedding at the
Chapel.

*+ 1990s — Chapel closed down

(Llangollen Museum, 2022).

*+ 1998 — Converted to residental
use (Llangollen Museum, 2022).

By Cameron Smith

The 1974 wedding at
Bethesda Chapel, when
Pete Answer married
Gaynor Lloyd-Jones. The
minister was Edgar
Williams.

The 1977 wedding at the
Chapel. The two bridesmaids
on the left were Debra
Hughes de Castel and
another. Then the bride
Nerys Hughes, with her father
Trevor Hughes on the right.

The final wedding at the
Chapel in 1991, when
Rhys Hughes married

Sian Williams.




Bethesda Chapel Cottages and Shop

Bethesda Chapel Cottages in 2023.

Bethesda Chapel was built by the Calvanistic Methodists in 1822 and it
is almost certain that the two adjoining cottages (Nos 1 and 2 today)
were constructed at the same time. The Chapel is marked on a map
produced by Ordnance Survey in1835 (below), but it is not possible from
the scale of the map to determine whether the cottages were included or

not. ‘.", / /:- \
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It seems unlikely that the cottages were used as accommodation for
ministers as early Methodist preachers often had a circuit of chapels at
which they would preach, but would more likely be based in a larger town
such as Llangollen. Most probably the cottages were rented out to
generate income for the Chapel and the Calvanist cause.

Library Board.

The first identifiable occupants of either of the cottages were rockman
William Williams and his wife Ann. From around 1840 until 1879 they lived
in what was called in the records Ty Capel, Chapel House or Pen y Capel.
It has not been possible to determine from the records who, if anyone, was
living in the adjoining cottage or even if it had been built at that time.



In 1879 Ann died, but William continued to
live in Ty Capel for another five years until
he too passed away in 1884. He was
buried alongside Ann in Llantysilio
Churchyard.

By the 1891 Census the two cottages
were distinguished from each other, being
called number 1 and 2 Chapel House.
Number one was, at that, time
unoccupied, but 35 year old blacksmith
John Davies was living at number 2 with
his wife Sarah and their five children John,
Sarah, David, Hugh and Mary. From the
ordering of the census records and later
occupations it would seem that, unlike
today, number 2 was adjacent to the
Chapel, with number 1 on the end.

Ann and William’s grave

in Llantysilio Churchyard.

At the turn of the 20th century John Davies

and his family were still living at number 2. Only Sarah and David were still
living with their parents, but they now had a younger sibling, Catherine.

,' e \-'

Bethesda Chapel and the Cottages can be seen in the background,
beyond the end of Post Office Terrace.
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In 1897 grocer Edward Jones and his new wife Mary Eleanor had moved
into the end cottage, setting up the grocery store on the end of their
house. Edward had grown up at Pentreucha cottages with his parents
John and Hannah and his siblings Mary, Hugh, Samuel, Margaret, Price
and John Dennis, and had married Mary Eleanor Parry (known as Nellie)
in 1897 at Zion Chapel in Wrexham. His parents and siblings had been
living at Tan y Bwich, and then lodged at Oernant Isaf, but with the death

of his sister Margaret in 1895 e

. . f is many vears since the peaceful little hamlet
and his mother in 1897, his | J&Is many yoos o ed such a gay and festive
father and brother John |appearance as it didthon 2‘?3;53?3, olgot‘\ib o?eﬁlf’

. . . H i e w .
Dennis had moved in with |the cocason bene o tores, Pentredwr, who

Edward and Mary. th ious day had been married in Wrexham
i :;Mi:spll‘;’iﬁie Pan{\', daughter of the late Mr. John

Brymbo, and grand-daughter to the late Mr.
The newspapers reported the {)Vuiﬁiy:;m 'g’;’,‘,y, Pomgy”,mu. The arrival of the
welcoming home of Edward t0 | newly-married couple in the village on the day

i i i i above-mentioned was the signal for the most hearty
the Vlllage with his new wife on de;)nonstrations of respect and joy from all classes

the day after their wedding. |of the people. A number of cannons placed at

. different points of vantage on the surrounding

The Occa_S|on wa; . even h;llztevl:erep fired, the reports being heard several
marked with the fiing Of |milesaway. The villagers also testified in several
al respect in which Mr.

illsi other ways the univers !
cannons on - the hillsides Jones andyhis family are held in the neighbourhood.

above. Edward and Mary had —— . .
two children, John Emlyn, born Llangollen Advertiser Denbighshire
in 1899, and Gertrude Marion, Merionethshire and North Wales
born two years later in 1901. Journal, 15th October 1897.

Ten years later the Davieses and the Joneses were still neighbours, but
by then it was son David Davies who was head of the household at
Chapel House, with his new wife Catherine. Next door the grocery had
become the Cambrian Stores, still operated by Edward and Mary Jones.
A single storey '
addition to the end of v
the house formed
the shop, carrying
Edward Jones’ name
above the window,
whilst the family lived
in the house, which
over the period of
WW1 would become
known by the name
Gorffwysfa - ‘Resting
Place’.

A group photograph taken outside the cottages
in what must be the 1920s or 30s. It seems quite
likely that the couple standing outside the door
of Gorffwysfa are Edward and Mary Jones.
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Meanwhile the cottage adjoining the Chapel had been renamed Gwalia
and Edwin and Ellen Williams had moved in with their young daughter
Lilian. Edwin had worked at Gresford Colliery, but was at that time out of
work. They would not stay long at Gwalia but moved to Maesyrychen
Lane, where Edwin became a woodman. Into Gwalia moved (Edward)
Stanley and Myfanwy Roberts and their son Ronald. Stanley Roberts
had been born at Rose Cottages in Rhewl, son of quarryman John
Roberts and his wife Elizabeth. The family had moved to Coed y Gadfa
and Stanley had been joined by a younger sister Annie. By 1921 they
had moved to Pentredwr, living at Plas Du, and Stanley had joined his
father working at the Moel y Faen Quarry.

In 1923 Stanley had married Myfanwy
Williams and five years later they had had
their only son Ronald Wynn. By the time they
moved into Gwalia Stanley had become a
permanent way labourer. Traditionally this
referred to a worker on the railway, but he is
remembered in the village as being a
roadman. He was also the local special
constable and, during the Second World
War, was in the Home Guard. Very sadly,
just after the end of World War 2 in 1945,
Ronald died. He had evidently been ill as he
passed away in the War Memorial Hospital in
Wrexham. He was buried in the graveyard at
Llantysilio Church. Myfanwy would join her
son in 1980 and Stanley in 1991, although
they had moved out of Gwalia and up to Plas
Du in 1954, when his parents had died, and
then into the centre of Llangollen in 1974.

Throughout the war years the
Cambrian Stores had continued to
serve the villagers of Pentredwr, as
well as refugees who had relocated
there, mainly from Liverpool. People
still (in 2023) remember going to
Jones’ store to collect their rations.
(Gertrude) Marion, then in her forties,
was gradually taking over the running
of the shop from her parents. After the
War Marion had fallen for forestry
worker George Twardowski, who had
relocated to the area hoping to farm.
George Boleslaw Twardowski had
been in the building trade in his native

Stanley Roberts outside
Gwalia in his Home
Guard uniform.

.

George Twardowski (right)
with Bob the Mill.
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Poland. During the Second World War he had been in the Polish cavalry
fighting against the Russians, and had been captured along with
thousands of others. Those who survived the journey to Siberia, and life in
the gulags, were eventually released after an amnesty with the Russian
government in 1941. Many who had fought joined a new wing of the Polish
armed forces the Second Polish Corps, who fought as Allied troops. At the
end of World War Il it was clear that it would be difficult and dangerous for
many Polish people outside of Poland to return home, due to their country
having fallen under Soviet influence, and these displaced Poles settled
around the world. Whether this was the route that George came to
Pentredwr we are not sure, but according to local memories, he was living
up at Bryn yr Odyn when he first
arrived. He worked in the forestry but
apparently supplemented his income
by growing and selling tobacco. The
not-so-young couple tried at first to
keep their relationship secret from the
village gossips, but were spotted by
the local youngsters kissing in the
lane, and the secret was out. They
mairried in 1953.

' - . Sadly, the year before, in 1952,

Edward and Mary anes Marion’s father Edward had died, to be

grave in Llantysilio followed just three years later in 1955

Churchyard. by her mother. They were buried
together in Llantysilio Churchyard.

Marion and George continued to run the shop, but tragically it would only be a
few more years when, in 1962, George also passed away. Marion soldiered
on for another eight years but then, with a declining village population and at
nearly 70 years old, she retired in 1970. On her retirement she said | have
seen many changes, being born and B A EoL :
bred in Pentredwir. It's a great pity that
it has been allowed to crumble. People
would love to come back here if only
there were houses available.’

Following a short period of ill health,
Marion Twardowski sadly died in
1971. On the bank in front of the
school / community centre is a
plaque and a tree planted in her
memory.

Marion Twardowski
(née Jones) just before
her retirement in 1970.
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Following Marion’s death in 1972, Charles
and Elsa Edwards, with their son Colin,
moved the Post Office up from where it
had been in Post Office Row to the now
empty grocery shop. The old Post Office
closed on Friday night and opened in its
new location on the following Monday. The
family kept the Pentredwr Post Office open
for another four years until Elsa’s ill health
forced them to finally close in 1976. Colin
contimued to live in Gorffwysfa until he
went away to work in June 1978. His father ~ The former shop and Post
moved out in late September / early Office in 1977 (behind), after
October that year when he remarried and it had finally closed for good.
moved to Llangollen.

Having retired from farming at Pentredwr Farm (Eglwyseg), Trevor Lloyd
and Olwen Hughes moved into Gorffwysfa in 1980 and lived there until
around 1994.

Following Stanley and Myfanwy moving out of Gwalia in 1954, the house
was lived in by a number of different families. In the early 1960s John
James and his wife Peggy lived there. After they moved out in the mid 60's
the property was renovated by the men of the chapel. Several of the
members were skilled tradesmen and, with vehicles provided by the
farming members, the debris was removed. Mr and Mrs Bulpitt lived there
for a short time after the improvements took place, and then from around
1965 to 1967 it was occupied by Ned
Williams. Following Ned, newly
married couple Bob and Ceinwen
Morris were at Gwalia, along with their
two daughters Rhian and Annwen.
They stayed until 1971, to be followed
by Mr and Mrs Maldwyn Griffiths and
their sons Trevor and Elwyn and then : A
for a short time, still in 1971, Glyn and :
Betty Roberts and their sons Phillip The Chat?]eel ?ggocso ttages in
and Rhys. Towards the end of 1971 '

Hywel Thomas moved in, staying for two years. Then from 1973 to about
1980 Jim and Suzanne Smith and their two sons Malcolm and Martin
made Gwalia their home.

The buildings, owned by the Methodist chapel, were eventually sold
(including the chapel itself) to the Worlds End estate in around 1996. All
were totally renovated and a third cottage was built on the north end, in
place of the shop building. Today they form a valuable source of rented
housing, helping young families to continue to live in Pentredwr.

By David Crane and Colin Edwards.
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